72812-1

FILED
Aug 27, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

72812-1

No. 72812-1-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FREDERICK WILLIAMS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Williams' request to represent himself was not unequivocal.

2. Mr. Williams did not knowingly, intelligently, or voluntarily waive his right to appointed counsel.

3. The trial court erred in denying the defense motion to sever the charges as to each complainant, M.W. and E.W., which involved counts that were wholly separate in time.

4. The trial court violated Mr. Williams' Fourteenth Amendment rights when it denied his counsel's request to participate in the court's *in camera* review of the complainant's Blaine school records.

5. The trial court violated Mr. Williams' Due Process right and his Sixth Amendment rights when it imposed a "two strikes" sentence of Life Without Possibility of Parole.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A request to proceed pro se must come in the form of an unequivocal demand for actual self-representation.

Approximately ten days before trial, Mr. Williams asked to represent himself as a means of seeking a new appointed lawyer, a request he had also made some months previously.

The trial court conducted a colloquy; however, it all but promised Mr. Williams that if he represented himself, he would have his knowledgeable, current counsel as standby counsel. Mr. Williams stated that he thought he could represent himself -- if he had stand-by counsel. The court also told Mr. Williams -- before he waived counsel -- that he could change his mind later, and have his lawyer re-appointed.

Early in trial, following examination of several witnesses, Mr. Williams suffered a headache. The trial court granted a medical continuance and told Mr. Williams that he seemed to be struggling with the task of self-representation, and again urged him to consider re-appointment of Mr. Fryer. After the weekend, Mr. Williams then accepted Fryer as counsel. Ultimately, the trial court's concern for the defendant's interests and for his right to a fair trial, under these facts and circumstances, had the unfortunate effect of allowing Mr. Williams to choose to 'experiment' with self-representation, which he did, until such time as it appeared he was not capable of continuing effectively.

Did Mr. Williams unequivocally demand to represent himself, where he did not ask to actually represent himself, and where his request to proceed pro se was not simply coupled with

a previous, unsuccessful request for a new lawyer, but instead was expressly stated to be a *means* of obtaining a new lawyer?

2. Was Mr. Williams' waiver of his right to counsel knowing, voluntary and intelligent, where the trial court's assurances of a case-knowledgeable standby counsel, and the court's statement that he had the option and ability to *change his mind later*, resulted in Williams not making his decision with his "eyes wide open," i.e., truly made aware of the risks and legal disadvantages of foregoing representation by an attorney, and the magnitude of that undertaking?

3. Considering the lack of a temporal or factual relationship between the allegations as to M.W. and the allegations as to E.W., and the trial court's failure to perform a substantive, on the record analysis of cross-admissibility, did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Williams' motion to sever the counts?

At trial, in closing argument, the prosecutor contended to the jury that although the two complainants had difficulty remembering and had made inconsistent statements over time, their accounts corroborated each other. Did Mr. Williams suffer specific prejudice?

4. Mr. Williams established that the two complainants' Blaine school records likely contained information material to the defense case, including impeachment matters, and the complexities of the possible defenses, and the complainant's changing statements over time, required that the school records be examined with an "advocate's eye." Did the trial court violate Mr. Williams' Due Process rights when it declined to allow defense counsel to participate in the court's *in camera* review of the school records, where the defense had also suggested additional protective orders, including only allowing Williams' counsel, and not the defendant, to participate?

5. Did the trial court violate Mr. Williams' Due Process right and his Sixth Amendment rights when it imposed a "two strikes" sentence of Life Without Possibility of Parole?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Frederick Williams was tried a second time in October, 2014 in Whatcom County Superior Court on charges of child molestation and rape of a child, allegedly committed against his niece M.W., and his niece E.W, in locations in Whatcom County where he was living near his brother's family. The counts as to M.W. had a charging period of 2006 to 2008, while the bulk of

the charges were as to E.W., with a charging period of 1999 to 2003. CP 5, 13, 188-91 (amended informations).¹

The trial court denied Mr. Williams' CrR 4.4(b) motion to sever the counts as to E.W. from the counts as to M.W.

4/8/14RP 111. The trial court also denied Mr. Williams' motion that the parties' attorneys be permitted to participate in the court's *in camera* review of the complainants' Blaine school records from when they were children, and at the time of the alleged offenses, which had been obtained by the court's issuance of a subpoena *duces tecum* sought by the defense.

5/6/14RP at 118-22.

Prior to trial, on multiple occasions including in January and February of 2014, and again in April, Mr. Williams expressed upset with his appointed counsel Tom Fryer, and made motions to be appointed new counsel and to proceed pro se. On January 23, 2014, he told the trial court that "the whole idea of doing this is to try to mostly get counsel other than Mr.

¹ Mr. Williams' first trial, held in 2011, resulted in convictions on similar charges, but the judgment was reversed when this Court of Appeals, in an unpublished decision, concluded that the defendant's 1991 sex offense conviction should not have been admitted under RCW 10.58.090 per State v. Gresham, 173 Wn. 2d 405, 413, 269 P.3d 207, 210 (2012), and that the trial evidence was not strong enough to overcome the error of admitting the conviction without an ER 404(b) limiting instruction. State v. Williams, 172 Wn. App. 1027 (2012). The State did not attempt to introduce the 1991 conviction at the second trial.

Fryer.” 1/23/14RP at 16.

On October 9, Mr. Fryer presented Mr. Williams and announced to the court that his client was moving “to proceed pro se with me [Mr. Fryer] as standby counsel.” 10/9/14RP at 136. Mr. Fryer stated that Mr. Williams was not moving “to proceed straight up pro se.” 10/9/14RP at 136.

During the court’s Faretta colloquy, when asked “why” he wanted to represent himself, Mr. Williams again complained about his lawyer, and stated he wanted another lawyer if the court denied his pro se motion. 10/9/14RP at 142-46. When the court asked him if he still wanted to represent himself, considering the penalty, Williams said, “If I have standby counsel, I think I can do it, Your Honor.” 10/9/14RP at 146.

The trial court agreed with Mr. Fryer to delay any pro se status or have it be on hold when Mr. Fryer could present argument on pending motions he had briefed, while Mr. Williams himself would handle jury selection. 10/9/14RP at 146, 148, 150. Then, the court told Mr. Williams

All right. Well, I hope that you change your mind but you have the constitutional right to proceed as your own lawyer.

10/9/14RP at 151-52. The court stated it would direct Mr. Fryer

to be standby counsel, and then ordered that it was finding Mr. Williams had knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to an attorney, although the court again told Mr. Williams it hoped he would change his mind. 10/9/14RP at 152.

During the subsequent pre-trial hearings, and trial with examination of witnesses, the court, several times, encouraged Mr. Williams to take back his pro se status. See, e.g., 10/9/14RP at 152; 10/21/14RP at 165-66. After several days of trial, when Mr. Williams became sick and stated he could not continue, the court again suggested this was the time to have Mr. Fryer re-appointed. 10/23/14RP at 315, 317, 324. Mr. Williams accepted counsel the next day. 10/24/14RP at 3-5. He was convicted, and he appeals. CP 24-41, 256-74.

D. ARGUMENT

**(1). MR. WILLIAMS DID NOT
UNEQUIVOCALLY REQUEST TO
REPRESENT HIMSELF, NOR DID HE
KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND
INTELLIGENTLY WAIVE COUNSEL.**

a. Standard of Review. On appellate challenge, a trial court's decision granting a defendant's request for self-representation is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. James, 138 Wn. App. 628, 636, 158 P.3d 102 (2007). A

decision on a defendant's request for self-representation will be reversed if the decision relies on unsupported facts, or applies an incorrect legal standard. State v. Madsen, 168 Wn. 2d 496, 504, 229 P.3d 714, 718-19 (2010); (citing State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003)).

b. The presumption against finding a waiver of the right counsel. The Sixth Amendment and art. I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution provide that criminal defendants have the right to be represented by a lawyer. Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 134-37, 19 L. Ed. 2d 336, 88 S. Ct. 254 (1967); Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799, 93 A.L.R.2d 733 (1963); U.S. Const. amend. 6; U.S. Const. amend. 14. At the same time, a defendant may waive that important right, and represent himself. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975).

However, because of the fundamental importance of the right to counsel, and the perceived detrimental result of relinquishing that right, trial courts are cautioned to “indulge in every reasonable presumption” against finding a defendant has validly waived his right to counsel. In re Det. of Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 396, 986 P.2d 790 (1999); Brewer v. Williams, 430

U.S. 387, 404, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977)).

(i) Unequivocal. The request to proceed pro se must be “unequivocal.” State v. Madsen, 168 Wn. 2d at 506-07; see also State v. Coley, 180 Wn.2d 543, 560, 326 P.3d 702 (2014). The unequivocal requirement is necessary to limit baseless constitutional challenges on appeal. State v. Imus, 37 Wn. App. 170, 179–80, 679 P.2d 376 (1984), review denied, 101 Wn.2d 1016 (1984) (requirement of unequivocal demand permits trial courts to deny equivocal requests without fear of reversal).

In Madsen, the Supreme Court held that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied the defendant’s request to proceed pro se as “equivocal” by virtue of the fact that it followed shortly after an unsuccessful request for a new attorney. State v. Madsen, 168 Wn. 2d at 506-07.

The Court went on to explain, in that context, the bases for denying a request for self-representation. The Court indicated that denying pro se status should be based on a fact supporting the reason that the presumption against waiver had not been rebutted:

The grounds that allow a court to deny a defendant the right to self-representation are limited to a

finding that the defendant's request is equivocal, untimely, involuntary, or made without a general understanding of the consequences. Such a finding must be based on some identifiable fact; the presumption in Turay does not go so far as to eliminate the need for any basis for denying a motion for pro se status.

State v. Madsen, 168 Wn. 2d at 504-05. In this case, the multiple facts in the record warranted *only* a denial of pro se status.

(ii) Knowing voluntary and intelligent waiver. If a demand is unequivocal, the highly consequential waiver of the right to counsel is still valid only if it is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. In re Personal Restraint of Rhome, 172 Wn.2d 654, 663, 260 P.3d 874 (2011); Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938); City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 208–09, 691 P.2d 957 (1984).

A valid waiver of the right to counsel under this standard requires that the defendant be made aware of the risks and disadvantages of self-representation, with an indication on the record that “ ‘he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.’ ” Acrey, 103 Wn.2d at 209 (quoting Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975)); United States v. Balough, 820 F.2d 1485, 1487 (9th

Cir.1987) (same).

Importantly, one of the risks of self-representation is that there is no right to standby counsel. State v. Silva, 107 Wn. App. 605, 626–27, 27 P.3d 663 (2001) (there is no constitutional right to standby counsel and no Sixth Amendment right to hybrid representation wherein a defendant serves as co-counsel with his attorney). Moreover, once a defendant has waived his right to counsel, he may not later demand the assistance of counsel as a matter of right. Silva, 107 Wn. App. at 626–27.

c. The question of unequivocality, and a knowing waiver, is based on the record as a whole. The question whether the defendant’s request to represent himself is unequivocal, and knowing and voluntary, is assessed in light of the entire record. State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 441, 149 P.2d 446 (2006) (the demand must be unequivocal in the context of the record as a whole) (citing State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 698-99, 903 P.2d 960 (1995), aff’d, 164 Wn.2d 83,186 P.3d 1062 (2008)).

d. The defendant’s request was not unequivocal, and he was not advised of the risks and disadvantages of self-representation. Applying the requirements of an unequivocal

demand, the Supreme Court has stated:

While a request to proceed pro se as an alternative to substitution of new counsel does not necessarily make the request equivocal, Johnstone v. Kelly, 741 F.2d 214, 216, n. 2 (2d Cir.1986), such a request may be an indication to the trial court, in light of the whole record, that the request is not unequivocal.

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn. 2d 668, 739-42, 940 P.2d 1239, 1275-76 (1997) (affirming trial court's denial of pro se status for lack of unequivocal request where defendant was denied new counsel and then said, "I would formally make a motion then that I be able to allow [sic] to represent myself. I do not want to do this but the court and the counsel that I currently have force me to do this."). The Stenson Court continued, setting out the facts that showed the appellant's pro se request in that case was equivocal:

The request to represent oneself may be stated in the alternative of a request for new counsel. However, in such a situation where the request is conditional, the request must be unequivocal. In this case, the requests were both conditional and equivocal. The request to be pro se must be unequivocal in the context of the record as a whole. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d at 698-99, 903 P.2d 960. Here, almost all of the conversation between the trial judge and the Defendant concerned his wish for different counsel. He repeatedly discussed which new counsel should be assigned. He explained he had contacted a number of attorneys and had asked for permission to talk with his newly-selected counsel.

He told the trial court he did not want to represent himself but that the court and his counsel had forced him to do that. More importantly, the Defendant did not refute the trial court's final conclusion that he "really [did] not want to proceed without counsel."

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn. 2d at 741-42.

Looking at the entire record, but focusing particularly on the hearing of October 9, the facts of Mr. Williams' request to proceed pro se demonstrated neither a conditional request – Mr. Williams specifically stated that he wanted a new lawyer – and only equivocality. Nothing refutes the fact that Mr. Williams' request was to proceed pro se with standby counsel, and not to proceed "straight up" pro se.

(i) January 23. On January 23, 2014, during litigation regarding the subpoena of school records, Mr. Williams noted that a new motion he wanted heard was his request to the court to provide a new lawyer, or allow him self-representation. 1/23/14RP at 16. Mr. Williams revealed the true purpose of his motion, when he stated,

Your honor, the whole idea of doing this is to try to mostly get counsel other than Fryer.

1/23/14RP at 14-16; Supp. CP ____, Sub # 213. Mr. Williams then began speaking about his belief that the State would simply transfer the case from Mr. Fryer to Andrew Subin, a lawyer

Williams had been speaking with, and Subin would receive the State's payment. 1/23/14RP at 17.

At that point, Mr. Williams was told of the certain likelihood that representing himself would come with standby counsel. When Tom Fryer noted that any order allowing Mr. Williams to proceed pro se should also give him Mr. Fryer as standby counsel, the court cautioned that appointing standby counsel is not something that is universally done, "but very frequently done." 1/23/14RP at 19. The court set a hearing, and stated, "I can think of pro se they are most frequently given standby counsel." 1/23/14RP at 19.

(ii) January 27. The trial court denied the motion.

The court, seeking to clarify what Mr. Williams was requesting, asked if it was accurate that he wanted to represent himself.

1/27/14RP at 26. Mr. Williams responded:

Partly and partly not. To be honest, to be completely honest, Your Honor, I was hoping that, um, if, you know, you get [lawyer] Subin in, in some way, the same way I got Mr. Fryer, I didn't realize that the court can't do that but I mean. I know my case, but I am not –

1/27/14RP at 26. Mr. Williams asserted that his dissatisfactions with Mr. Fryer were legitimate, and made clear that he did not want Mr. Fryer as his lawyer, but instead wanted Mr. Subin, but

indicated that if he could not obtain that result, “if I have to take, either go pro se or take a public defender, then I will.”

1/27/14RP at 29-32. He reiterated to the court that “if there is anything that you can do to help switch it over to [lawyer] Subin, I mean, that’s what I would prefer.” 1/27/14RP at 32. The court denied the motion, stating that Mr. Williams was not really asking to represent himself. 1/27/14RP at 32-33.

(iii) October 9. Thereafter between January 27, 2014, and October 9, Mr. Williams at various times stated his upset with counsel or the process generally. See, e.g., 4/8/14RP at 109. Then, on, October 9, Mr. Fryer indicated to the court that Mr. Williams was again moving

[t]o the effect that, he would like to proceed, I don’t think he would like to proceed straight up pro se, but I think he would like to proceed pro se with me acting in a standby capacity.

(Emphasis added.) 10/9/14RP at 136. When the court inquired, Mr. Williams confirmed that he was seeking “to go pro se with standby counsel.” 10/9/14RP at 136. At that point, although the court told Mr. Williams the legal authorities indicated no right to standby counsel, the court stated that the courts are generally in favor of appointing standby counsel. 10/9/14RP at 137.

Additionally, the court confirmed that not only would Mr. Williams

likely be given standby counsel if he went pro se, but that it would be Mr. Fryer.

THE COURT ... In this case we already have quite capable counsel who is very familiar with the case who I assume was willing to act as standby counsel?

MR. FRYER: I am, Judge.

10/9/14RP at 136-7. The court, throughout the colloquy that followed, also told Mr. Williams he could change his mind, and have standby counsel take over full representation. 10/9/14RP at 137.

The court next proceeded to a colloquy under Faretta regarding Williams' knowledge of the law and court rules, which he did not have. 10/9/14RP at 137. When the court asked Mr. Williams why he wanted to represent himself, Mr. Williams complained that Mr. Fryer was not "representing me in my best interest" and returned to his requests for substitute counsel. 10/9/14RP at 141-44.

When the court then asked if, in light of the penalty that he might suffer, it was still Mr. Williams' desire to represent himself, he replied,

If I have standby counsel, I think I can do it,
Your Honor.

10/9/14RP at 146. Before ruling, the court said it agreed with counsel Fryer that the court would essentially place the pro se status on hold or delay it going “into affect,” so Fryer could provide oral argument for various legal motions he had drafted.

10/9/14RP at 146-50. Regarding other tasks such as the motions in limine, the court confirmed with Mr. Fryer, stating, “All right. And your current client would be conducting those?”

10/9/14RP at 148-49. Then, the court told Mr. Williams

All right. Well, I hope that you change your mind but you have the constitutional right to proceed as your own lawyer.

(Emphasis added.) 10/9/14RP at 151-52. The whole record fails to show a valid waiver.²

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