72812-1

FILED
January 12, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72812-1-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

\_\_\_\_\_

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

# FREDERICK JAMES WILLIAMS, JR., Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By HILARY A. THOMAS Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA #22007

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

#

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

### D. ARGUMENT

Williams asserts that his waiver of his right to counsel was not unequivocal because it was conditioned on his being provided standby counsel. While Williams invited the very error he asserts rendered his waiver invalid by specifically requesting that standby counsel be appointed, which it was, the court engaged in a thorough colloquy with Williams before reluctantly granting Williams' request to represent himself because Williams refused to be represented by defense counsel. At the time the court entertained Williams' request, Williams request was unequivocal, knowing, intelligent and voluntary.

Williams also asserts that the trial court erred in denying his motion to sever the counts regarding EW from those regarding MW because of the risk of accumulation of evidence and because the offenses were not cross admissible under ER 404(b). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the severance motion because the counts had been properly joined for trial, the evidence was cross-admissible, the same witnesses would be called at each trial, and the jury was instructed to consider each count separately. The counts were cross admissible under ER 404(b) to show Williams' common design to take advantage of his nieces in order to sexually abuse them. Williams exploited his nieces'

with MW had been different than others because she had been difficult to understand due

trust in him as an uncle and their age in order to manipulate them, and enticed them with offers of money or things they wanted, so that he could abuse them sexually. Defense pointed to no specific prejudice that would arise from trying the counts together, just that Williams would not get a fair trial because of the potential for the jury to aggregate the totality of the evidence and sexual nature of the charges. Williams failed to establish that joinder was so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the desire for judicial economy.

Williams also asserts that the trial court erred in denying his discovery request for the girls' school records, over their objection, and to permit his attorney to participate in the in camera review of those records. Williams' request was a discretionary discovery request because the records were held by a third party, not under the prosecutor's control. Given the privacy interest related to the records and the girls' assertion of that privacy interest, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in conducting a review of the records in camera. When defense counsel made his oral request to participate in the in camera review, the court had already reviewed the records and determined there were no discoverable records within them. In its ruling the court detailed the nature of the records that had been produced by the school district before denying

to her speech impediment.3RP 218.

defense counsel's renewed request to review them himself. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the discovery request for the victims' school records.

Finally, Williams claims under the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments the State was required to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams' prior conviction for Rape of a Child in the First

Degree was a strike offense, which subjected him to a life sentence without parole as a persistent offender. The State was only required to prove Williams' prior strike offense by a preponderance of the evidence and was not required to prove it to a jury, as this Court held in <a href="State v.">State v.</a>

Witherspoon.<sup>7</sup>

# 1. Williams validly waived his right to counsel when he chose to go pro se.

A criminal defendant has a right to represent him or herself pursuant to the Sixth Amendment. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819-21, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). A defendant may waive his converse right to counsel and proceed pro se, but s/he must do so unequivocally. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 377, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); State v. Silva, 108 Wn. App. 536, 539, 31 P.3d 729 (2001). "This right is so fundamental that it is afforded despite its potentially detrimental impact on both the defendant and the administration of justice." State v. Madsen,

168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010). The only grounds upon which a court may deny a request to proceed pro se are that the request is untimely, equivocal, involuntary, or "made without a general understanding of the consequences." Id. at 504-05. The validity of such a waiver is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>In re Rhome</u>, 172 Wn.2d 654, 667, 260 P.3d 874 (2011).

A waiver of either the right to counsel or the right to represent oneself must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 539, Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835. The focus of the waiver of the right to counsel inquiry is to ensure that a defendant is "aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that 'he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.'"

Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835; accord, City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 691 P.2d 957 (1984). While a colloquy is the preferred means of ensuring a valid waiver of the right to counsel, the court may look to evidence in the "record that shows the defendant's actual awareness of the risks of self-representation." Acrey, 103 Wn.2d at 211. If a colloquy is conducted, it should generally address the nature and classification of the charges, the maximum penalty upon conviction, as well as advise the defendant that there are technical rules that apply to the presentation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014).

evidence. Id. The validity of a waiver of the right to counsel depends upon the facts and circumstances of the individual case. There is no specific list of disadvantages that must be conveyed to the defendant for the waiver to be valid. <u>DeWeese</u>, 117 Wn.2d at 378. The validity of the waiver is determined based upon the defendant's knowledge at the time of the waiver. <u>State v. Modica</u>, 136 Wn. App. 434, 445, 149 P.3d 446 (2006), *aff'd*, 164 Wn.2d 83 (2008).

When an indigent defendant is dissatisfied with current counsel, but fails to provide the court with a legitimate basis for substitution of counsel, the court can require the defendant to choose between continuing with current counsel or proceeding pro se. <u>DeWeese</u>, 117 Wn.2d at 376. "If the defendant chooses not to continue with appointed counsel, requiring such a defendant to proceed pro se does not violate the defendant's constitutional right to be represented by counsel, and may represent a valid waiver of that right." Id. In determining whether a defendant's decision to waive the right to counsel is knowing and intelligent, the court may consider defendant's insistence that he not be represented by a particular attorney. <u>U.S. v. Gallup</u>, 838 F.2d 105, 110 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988). A defendant's clear and knowing request to proceed pro se is not rendered equivocal if it is motivated by something other than purely the desire to represent him or herself. <u>Modica</u>, 136 Wn. App. at 442.

### a. invited error

Williams asserts that his waiver was not valid because he did not fully understand the magnitude of representing himself because the judge told him before he waived that he could have standby counsel. He, however, was provided standby counsel specifically at his request. The invited error doctrine "prohibits a party from setting up an error ... and then complaining about it on appeal." In re Thompson, 141 Wn.2d 712, 723, 10 P.3d 380 (2000). This is a "strict rule." State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999). The doctrine requires some affirmative action on the part of the defendant. Thompson, 141 Wn.2d at 724. Generally, where the defendant takes knowing and voluntary actions to set up the error, the invited error doctrine applies; where the defendat's actions are not voluntary, it does not. <u>In re Thompson</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 724. The doctrine applies even in the context of constitutional error. Studd, 137 Wn.2d at 546, 548. This rule recognizes that "[t]o hold otherwise would put a premium on defendants misleading trial courts." State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 868, 792 P.2d 514 (1990).

Williams asserts he wasn't aware of the "magnitude of the undertaking" of self-representation because the court informed him he could have standby counsel. This, however, was at Williams' request.

While Williams initially requested to represent himself in January of 2014,

it was clear that Williams thought he could get another, specific attorney by doing so. 1RP 14-17, 24. It also was clear that his request to go pro se was not unequivocal at that point because he said he "partly and partly not" wanted to represent himself, and that was how the judge interpreted the request. 1RP 26, 36. However, months later on October 9th, defense counsel informed the court that he believed that Williams wanted to go pro se with himself as standby counsel. 1RP 136. Williams immediately told the court: "I would like to go pro se with standby counsel." 1RP 136. The judge then informed him he had no right to standby counsel, but confirmed with defense counsel that he was willing to serve as standby counsel, and explained the role of standby counsel to Williams. 1RP 137. After engaging in a colloquy with Williams regarding self representation, the judge asked him if he still wanted to give up his right to be fully represented by assigned defense counsel, and Williams answered "If I have standby counsel, I think I can do it." 1RP 146. After some discussion of ministerial matters, the judge again inquired of Williams and then found that his waiver was knowing, intelligent and voluntary but encouraged him to reconsider. 1RP 151-52. He further advised that defense counsel would only serve as standby counsel, not co-counsel at trial, that he would not question witnesses and that he had no right to cocounsel. 1RP 152-53.

During pre-trial motions Williams indicated he might need some assistance from standby counsel in arguing somee previously filed motions. 2RP 8-10. The judge indicated he was willing to have standby counsel argue those motions without deeming Williams to have waived or changed standby counsel's status, if Williams was comfortable with that, to which Williams responded: "Cool. Thank you, Your Honor." 2RP 11. At the end of the hearing, the judge again encouraged Williams to consider carefully about proceeding pro se, and if he changed his mind, he should not hesitate to inform the judge. 2RP 50-51.

At the beginning of trial, the prosecutor asked the court to address the standby counsel issue again, to ensure that Williams was happy with the level of assistance standby counsel was providing since standby counsel appeared to be acting more as counsel than standby. 3RP 160-64. The judge informed Williams that he could have as much or as little assistance from standby counsel as he wished, and informed him that if he didn't want the assistance, he just needed to say so, Williams responded: "We both are. I think it's mutual." 2RP 165.

Williams specifically requested that he be permitted to represent himself with defense counsel as standby counsel. The court essentially permitted Williams to dictate the scope of standby counsel's services until trial. Williams was clearly content with stanby counsel's assistance up

until trial. Soon after trial began, Williams relinquished his self representation and was represented for almost all of the trial by defense counsel. Williams asked for standby counsel as part of his request to go pro se. He was given standby counsel pursuant to that request. He invited any error regarding the validity of his waiver based on availability of standby counsel.

### b. valid waiver

Even assuming the invited error doctrine doesn't apply to the waiver of the right to counsel, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Williams' waiver was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. The record demonstrates that at the time Williams waived his right to counsel, Williams was aware that he wouldn't get substitute counsel and that he did not have a right to standby counsel, although the judge had indicated he was inclined to appoint defense counsel as standby counsel.

A defendant is not constitutionally entitled to appointment of standby counsel. State v. Fisher, 188 Wn. App. 924, 355 P.3d 1188 (2015). "Standby counsel's role is not to represent the defendant, however, but to provide technical information, and 'to be available to represent the accused in the event that termination of the defendant's self-representation is necessary." State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 525, 740 P.2d 829 (1987) (quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46). A court may

appoint standby counsel over a defendant's objections to "explain court rulings and requirements to the defendant and to assure a defendant lacking in legal knowledge does not interfere with the administration of justice." State v. McDonald, 143 Wn.2d 506, 511, 22 P.3d 791 (2001).

As noted above, when Williams first made his request to go pro se in January, the judge ultimately concluded that it did not appear that was really what Williams wanted and did not grant it. 1RP 35-36. It appeared Williams wanted to substitute in a specific, private, attorney, even though he could not afford to hire him, and had been under the mistaken impression he could do so if he moved to fire his attorney and said he wanted to represent himself. 1RP 14-17, 24-27, 32-33. At that time defense counsel informed the court he thought standby counsel would be necessary due to the defense expert witness and that it would be "tremendously problematic" for Williams to go pro se without standby counsel. 1RP 18-19. The judge informed Williams that appointment of standby counsel was not something that was universally done, but it was done frequently. 1RP 19.

Over eight months later, Williams renewed his request to represent himself.<sup>8</sup> When Williams stated he wanted to represent himself with standby counsel, the judge informed him that he had no right to standby

counsel. After confirming that defense counsel was willing to serve as standby counsel, the judge informed Williams that standby counsel was not there to simply do whatever he wanted him to do, but was there to provide assistance, and in some cases to take over full representation if requested to do so. 1RP 136-37. The court engaged in a colloquy with Williams, reviewing with him whether he had ever studied law or represented himself before; what the maximum penalty, life without parole, was; and that he would be held to the same standards as an attorney, that the court could not advise him, and that he would be on his own, although he might have standby counsel available to him. 1RP 139-40. The judge also inquired whether he was familiar with jury selection procedure, the rules of evidence and criminal procedure, and that those rules governed how the trial would be conducted. 1RP 140-41.

The judge then inquired why Williams wanted to represent himself, to which he replied that he knew his case, that he didn't think defense counsel's representation was in his best interest. 1RP 142. The judge advised that he believed defense counsel understood Williams' case thoroughly<sup>9</sup> and he was a very good lawyer, and then asked if Williams really believed he was better off representing himself. 1RP 143. Williams

<sup>8</sup> Williams did interject during a hearing in April that he wanted to go pro se, but that was not the issue before the court at that time. 1RP 109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Defense counsel was the same counsel who had represented Williams in the first trial.

said yes, at that point in time. The judge then asked if anyone had made any promises or threats to get him to waive his right to counsel, to which Williams replied no. 1RP 143. The judge explained he thought Williams would be better off represented by a skilled, attorney like defense counsel and that he thought it was unwise for Williams to represent himself particularly given the seriousness of the charges, that while Williams knew the facts of the case, he did not know the law. 1RP 143-44. The judge stated Williams had the right to represent himself but he urged Williams to reconsider, as he did not believe that Williams would receive the best representation if he represented himself. 1RP 143-44.

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